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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The Annual Report of the First Nations Market Housing Fund (the Fund) contains forward-looking 
statements regarding objectives, strategies and expected financial results. There are risks and 
uncertainties beyond the control of the Fund that include, but are not limited to, economic, 
financial and regulatory conditions. These factors, among others, may cause actual results to 
differ substantially from the expectations stated or implied in the forward-looking statements.

Melissa Maracle, Homeowner, Mohawks of the Bay of Quinte
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 OUR MANDATE

Our mandate is to facilitate access to financing for 

market-based housing in First Nations communities. 

We help create the capacity in First Nations communities 

to support and sustain market-based housing programs, 

thereby contributing to the social welfare and civic 

improvement of First Nations communities and their 

residents. Our over-arching goal is to promote a 

system in which First Nations residents have the same 

housing opportunities on communally held lands – be 

they reserve, settlement or lands set aside - as other 

Canadians do in communities across the country.
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OUR VISION 

As we focus on increasing the opportunities for on-reserve market-based home ownership,  
our vision is that...

“Every First Nation family has the 
opportunity to have a home on their 
own land in a strong community.”

Fund-back home, Tyendinaga Mohawk Territory
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRPERSON 
OF THE TRUSTEES
Ahneen,

The theme for our 2016 annual report is straight forward: Owning A Home Makes a Difference. 
Just how profound that difference can be is reflected in the faces of First Nations families across the 
country. People are sharing their stories about what owning a home means not only to themselves and 
their loved ones but also to their communities. Throughout our annual report, you will see some of the 
stories about how homeownership can change lives for the better. 

Recently, while participating at a conference, a member of the Mohawks of the Bay of Quinte in Ontario 
described how he had seen a “for sale” sign while driving through his community. I see this as a sign of 
progress and hope. Non-Indigenous Canadians take it for granted that they can accumulate wealth by 
investing in their home. Why shouldn’t we as First Nations have the same kinds of opportunities? 

During the summer, the Trustees and I were honoured to join in a community feast in Membertou. 
We were proud to see how Fund-backed homes are contributing to the health and prosperity of 
Membertou. Community members have options based on their family needs - they can choose to build, 
buy or rent-to-own, or renovate a home they own already. What’s happening in Membertou is beginning 
to blossom elsewhere. Perhaps not as quickly as we would like but there are tangible results spreading 
across the country. 

In the fall, the Vice-Chair and I were pleased to personally engage in the “Let’s Talk Housing” 
consultation launched by Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation which was bursting with 
innovative ideas. This consultation, with tables specifically focussed on First Nations housing, is of vital 
importance because it will inform Canada’s National Housing Strategy which is expected to provide the 
basis for building more prosperous communities.

As someone who has spent many years working to improve the lives of Indigenous youth, I see how 
having a decent roof over one’s head makes a difference in the quality of life of communities. 
The time is right for change building on the work that we did in creating the historic Kelowna Accord – 
the Accord that led to the creation of this Fund. The 2016 federal budget builds on the Accord by making 
unprecedented investments that will put us on the road to reconciliation and help close the gap between 
Indigenous and other Canadians.

I want to thank the Board of Trustees and the staff for their diligent efforts, and most of all express 
my gratitude to our First Nations partners. It is seeing the faces of those whom we are working with 
and hearing their stories that make our work worthwhile.

Meegwetch,

John Beaucage
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 MESSAGE FROM THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
We chose the theme “Owning a Home Makes a Difference” this year because it gives all of us 
a chance to be difference makers. 

We know the Fund has made progress in 2016 as our reach continues to grow from coast to coast to 
coast. We have welcomed new First Nations partners from across Canada, including the Northwest 
Territories, the Yukon, and Atlantic Canada. 

Together with our partners, we have freed up social housing units for the use of other families in need, 
and reduced the overcrowding in some communities.  We have backed renovations costing more than 
$100,000 to a single home, thus increasing its value and its comfort for the owners.  We have also 
contributed to people being able to move back home because they now have options that were not 
there before.  

Credit has been approved to enable more than 6,000 home loans which can make a substantial positive 
difference to peoples’ lives. While we have just a couple hundred homes on the ground, we understand 
that the decisions to move forward are made collaboratively when the time is right for our First Nations 
partners and their citizens. 

The Fund is also taking a leadership role in working to build capacity by providing First Nations with the 
tools to construct their market-based housing strategies on a solid foundation. Whether it is developing 
capacity for financial management, building practices or professional development, we are proud to 
stand side by side with our partners as they take the necessary steps to build stronger and healthier 
communities. 

We continue to seek out ways to streamline our processes and to make our dollars go further to serve as 
many First Nations as possible.  We continue to develop products that can be shared and customized by 
and for First Nations based on their unique needs. We have also continued to pursue additional financial 
institutions as partners because we believe choice is in the best interests of the First Nations. 

Our Board of Trustees and our staff have been active throughout 2016 visiting communities, 
strengthening our relationships and laying the groundwork for our collective success. I am exceedingly 
grateful for their support.

We are energized by the success stories that are being shared at events like the community feast in 
Membertou and other First Nations gatherings across the country. We continue to draw our inspiration 
from our partners’ success and we look forward to another great year. 

With Respect,

Deborah Taylor
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2016 – A YEAR IN REVIEW

External Environment
There were a number of key happenings in 2016 that affected the Fund and our work with First Nations 
across the country. 

2016 will go down as a watershed year in the efforts to improve quality of life of First Nations. 
Following the Prime Minister’s statement that, “no relationship is more important to me and to Canada 
than the one with First Nations, the Métis Nation, and Inuit,” the federal budget was tabled on March 
22nd, 2016. It outlined plans to make unprecedented investments, “to support Indigenous communities 
and the aspirations of Indigenous peoples.” 

“The Government of Canada plans 
to invest $8.4 billion over five years, 
beginning in 2016–17, to improve the 
socio-economic conditions of Indigenous 
peoples and their communities and 
bring about transformational change.”

 – Budget 2016 
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 – Budget 2016 

The Budget which was tabled in the House of Commons by Finance Minister Bill Morneau also called 
for $2.6 billion to be invested in primary and secondary education on reserves. Significant funds were 
directed towards improvements in drinking water and housing, as well as family and child services.

The Budget also provides more than $554 million over two years beginning in 2016–17 to address 
urgent housing needs on reserve. The bulk of this funding was earmarked for Indigenous and Northern 
Affairs Canada with an additional $137.7 million over two years provided to Canada Mortgage and 
Housing Corporation, primarily to support the renovation and retrofit of existing housing on reserve.

“The proposed investments are a first 
step. The Government will be working 
with First Nations communities over 
the coming year to develop an effective 
long-term approach to supporting 
the construction and maintenance 
of an adequate supply of housing on 
reserve as part of a broader National 
Housing Framework.”    

These budget increases were welcome news to many of our First Nations clients.  The additional dollars 
resulted in some capacity development activities planned with the Fund being postponed, while others 
were cost-shared.  It also meant time and energy were directed away from a focus on market-based 
housing while some communities pursued the new funding for social housing within the timeframes 
set by the Funders. 
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“Owning our own home has been a dream 
come true for us. It’s exactly what we wanted 
and even after 4 years, I can still walk into a 
room and feel all surprised that this is mine. 
It’s been liberating for all of us to finally have 
a space that’s really ours. No worries about 
asking permission for things we want to do.  
We can just do it. We’re already planning an 
extension in a few more years so that we can 
put in a weight room and a games room.” 

 – Candace Paul, Homeowner, Membertou
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Let’s Talk Housing Initiative
Soon after the release of the budget, the Federal Government launched, “Let’s Talk Housing” 
an extensive public consultation aimed at developing a National Housing Strategy.

The national conversation on housing was launched at the end of June 2016, following a meeting 
of Federal/Provincial/Territorial Ministers responsible for housing.  The four-month long consultations 
were led by Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC), and heard from Canadians of all 
backgrounds who offered insights and ideas for the future of housing in Canada. Feedback was 
received during formal consultations as well as through an on-line survey and through social media 
and written submissions.

“Helping Indigenous peoples achieve better housing outcomes for themselves,” emerged as 
a key theme from the consultation.

“Indigenous peoples told us that a 
separate, but parallel strategy is needed 
to address the unique housing challenges 
facing Métis,Inuit and First Nations 
peoples living on and off reserve, in cities 
and remote areas, and in the North and 
bring housing need levels on par with 
non-Indigenous peoples.”

 – Let’s Talk Housing Report
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The Public Policy Forum (PPF) also held a series of community roundtables on behalf of Indigenous 
and Northern Affairs Canada (INAC) encouraging unheard and under-heard voices to rethink on-
reserve housing in Canada. The roundtables were designed to augment other outreach by INAC and 
initiatives by the Assembly of First Nations (AFN). They were also part of the efforts to create a broader 
National Housing Strategy, which is being led by CMHC.

The recommendations included involving First Nations leaders in the decision-making process and 
providing more flexibility for First Nations initiatives rather than a one-size fits all approach. Other 
ideas called for a re-imagining of First Nations housing models and funding, as well as the creation 
of a First Nations-led organization with responsibility for on-reserve housing.

“Given the limitations of financial equity for many First Nations people, participants said there needs 
to be a broader consideration for the forms of equity that can be used toward housing. Suggestions 
included tools such as revolving loan funds, or even being able to contribute sweat equity into the 
building or purchasing of a home.” 

At both the Trustee and senior staff level, the Fund had opportunities to participate in the consultation 
process in 2016, and we will to continue to actively stay engaged as the talks move forward.  The 
overwhelming feedback from our partners is that they share our belief that a sound market-housing 
option, such as the one the Fund offers, remains in the toolbox of housing choices First Nations will 
have going forward.  

Eric Menicoche, Trustee, Honourable Carolyn Bennett, Minister of Indigenous and Northern Affairs, AFN National Housing and Infrastructure Forum, Winnipeg
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Bringing New Voices to the Table: Re-thinking On-Reserve Housing 
in Canada, Public Policy Forum Report
Living conditions on First Nations reserves continued to capture media attention during 2016 with the 
Chief and Council for the Attawapiskat First Nation in northern Ontario declaring a state of emergency 
because of the number of attempted suicides. On one Saturday night alone in April, 11 young people 
attempted to take their own lives. 

Other First Nations leaders came forward to talk about the suicide crisis in their communities 
particularly among youth. In November, Saskatchewan Premier Brad Wall met with First Nations 
leaders in La Ronge to come up with a long-term plan to address the suicide crisis. The meeting took 
place after six First Nations girls died by suicide in the north and there have been many other reported 
attempts.

Living conditions on reserve received national attention when a member of the Sandy Bay First Nation 
in Manitoba posted a video on YouTube showing a dilapidated home that had been ravaged by sewage 
backups. Eight children had been living in the three-bedroom house trailer. The video was posted on 
line and sent to public officials in Ottawa. A private donor stepped forward to offer a new home.

The Assembly of First Nations held a housing and infrastructure conference in Winnipeg in November.
Regional Chief Kevin Hart said that the new federal money for First Nations housing is welcome but will 
not solve a monumental shortage for at least a generation. Chief Hart described how 16 to 18 people 
are living in a two-bedroom house infested with mould. 

The Fund continues to advance the notion that market-based homes can help improve health, social 
and educational outcomes, by alleviating some of the pressure, whether it is caused by overcrowding 
or a lack of supply.  We are seeing a domino effect in some communities where families have moved 
out of their existing units into a Fund-backed home, either reducing overcrowding or freeing up a 
housing unit for a family in need. 

 

Membertou
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The Fund in Action
Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation’s (CMHC), “Let’s Talk Housing” report identifies several 
desired outcomes based on the input of Canadians, housing experts, and Indigenous peoples. One of 
those outcomes is that, “Indigenous peoples and communities are using innovative housing approaches 
and solutions (e.g., governance, financing, home ownership models) to address priority needs”.

This outcome is entirely consistent with the strategic approach by the First Nations Market Housing 
Fund (the Fund) as we head toward our 9th anniversary in 2017. The Fund which began operations in 
2008 is a registered not-for-profit trust that was born out of the Kelowna Accord. The Government of 
Canada established the Fund through CMHC to give First Nations citizens greater access to home loans 
in their communities. The federal government’s one-time investment of $300 million in the Fund has 
the potential to leverage $3 billion in investments in homes on reserve and on settlement lands and 
lands set aside for First Nations across Canada.

It is completely voluntary for First Nations to make use of the market-based fund. The Fund recognizes 
the uniqueness of First Nations communities and works with them on their own timelines to provide 
them with the choice and flexibility they need to provide viable housing options.

While credit has been approved for over 6,000 homes, the number of homes that have been built or 
renovated has not progressed as quickly as any of the Fund’s Trustees or staff would have liked. In 
many cases this is due to challenges beyond a First Nation’s direct control. It takes time to set up 
the systems and practices necessary to implement and sustain a market-based housing program. 
The Fund is just one of the tools available to help close the housing gap between First Nations 
and Non-Indigenous Canadians. 

The Fund has been working diligently with our partners to close the gap and some important 
milestones were reached in 2016 which demonstrate the Fund’s growing footprint across Canada. 
These milestones include:

• The Fund has approved loan programs in 100 of the 223 First Nations that have opted  
to partner with the Fund. 

• As of December 31st, 223 applications had been received from First Nations. 
This represents more than one-third of the First Nations across Canada.

• 74 applications have been approved for Capacity Development. 

• In all, close to $900 million in credit has been approved to support an estimated 6,050 home loans.

The Fund enables First Nations to guarantee financing for a new home, to renovate and modernize an 
existing home, or create other market-based housing solutions for citizens on reserve and on settlement 
lands as one option to help address the housing challenges. 
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Fund-backed home, Tyendinaga Mohawk Territory 

Fund-backed 4-plex, Malahat First Nation
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The Fund’s Growing Footprint
The progress is clear and measurable not only with statistics but also in the feedback that the Fund 
continues to receive from our partners. As Chief Oliver Arnouse of Little Shuswap Lake Indian Band put it, 

Twenty-one First Nations chose to sign on with the Fund in 2016. Profiles of five of our new partners 
approved for a loan program, who chose to be announced in 2016, are contained in “Getting to Know 
our Newest Partners” of the Annual Report. An additional five First Nations qualified under 
the Capacity Development program. These are First Nations who believe in market-based housing but 
want to work on strengthening their government’s operations before embarking on a loan program. 

On the financing side, the Fund welcomed a new financial institution as a lending partner. CIBC became 
the latest member of the Canadian banking community to support First Nations nationally through the 
Fund’s Credit Enhancement program. This continues to give First Nations more options and encourages 
competition as the Fund continues to seek innovative ways to support communities and work 
with partners to close the housing gap.

Having additional lenders on board both at the national and regional levels will result in more choice 
in underserved geographic areas, and opportunities for First Nations governments to establish 
new relationships with a financial institution that will increase their home loan options and provide 
opportunities for other competitive financial offerings. CIBC brings to 16 the number of national and 
regional financial institutions that are participating in the lending program.

“We want to ensure our community continues to thrive 
and believe that facilitating access to good housing ensures 
our people can live safe, healthy and prosperous lives they 
deserve amongst people who care about each other.”
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THE GROWING FOOTPRINT BY THE NUMBERS

• 223 applications received from First Nations

• 100 applications approved for Credit Enhancement and Capacity Development – close to 
$900 million in credit approved to support an estimated 6,050 loans

• 74 First Nations approved for Capacity Development only

• 49 First Nations currently participating in the assessment process

SOME 200 LOANS
backed by the Fund for newly built homes, home purchases, 
rental units and renovations broken down as follows: 

107 

36 

26 23 8 

NEW CONSTRUCTION 
FOR HOMEOWNERS

PURCHASES FOR 
HOMEOWNERS

REFINANCED WITH 
HOME RENOVATIONSNEW CONSTRUCTION FOR 

RENTALS/RENT-TO-OWN

RENOVATIONS
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Profile of First Nations approved to date for credit enhancement

The Fund has managed to leverage almost a potential $900 million of housing investment over five 
years involving 100 First Nations. This is aimed at home ownership but also includes renovations, 
rentals, elder and foster homes.

Population varies among those First Nations communities that are partnering with the program 
as outlined below:

25 |  LESS THAN 500   39 |  BETWEEN 1001-5000   

29 |  BETWEEN 501-1000   07 |  GREATER THAN 5000       

The Fund enables First Nations to guarantee financing for a new home, to renovate and modernize an 
existing home, or create other market-based housing solutions for citizens on reserve and on settlement 
lands as one option to help address the housing challenges.  

Pride of Home Ownership
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“Owning a home gave my husband 
and I, a fresh start, and stability. 
Something that my husband and I 
believe is important to raise our boys. 
You always remember the house you 
grew up in and this house will remain 
in our family for years to come. 
We love our home.” 

 – Chrissy Christmas, Homeowner, Membertou
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Fund-backed homes - Tyendinaga Mohawk Territory
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Capacity Development
Capacity development helps to build the foundation of healthy prosperous First Nations whether it is 
housing, water, education, economic development, social services, or infrastructure. 

Participants in CMHC’s “Let’s Talk Housing public consultations aimed at creating a National Housing 
Strategy identified capacity development as a priority issue. 

In a January 2016 report, the National Aboriginal Economic Development Board (NAEDB) pointed to 
capacity building as an important component of addressing the infrastructure deficit that will improve 
living conditions in Indigenous communities in the north.

The Fund’s Capacity Development (CD) Program is for First Nations who believe in market-based housing 
and focuses on the three pillars: 

• Financial Management

• Good Governance

• Community Commitment

The three pillars support and strengthen First Nations and provide a solid foundation to develop capacity 
for a strong market-based housing system. 

In its April 2013 report, “Addressing the Barriers to Economic Development on Reserve, the NAEDB 
called for increased capacity building, especially human capacity. “The reserve land base is the 
foundation upon which First Nations’ economic success is built. First Nations must have the right 
skill sets, tools and instruments which will allow them to plan, form partnerships and operate their 
businesses.”

“There is a lack of capacity (financial, human resources, 
expert knowledge) within many First Nations communities.” 

“Indigenous peoples and communities have the autonomy 
and capacity to meet their housing needs.”

A desired outcome is that,



Deborah Taylor, Executive Director, Dwayne Nashkawa, CEO, Nipissing First Nation, AFOA Canada National Conference, Montréal

Owning a Home Makes a Difference  |   First Nations Market Housing Fund 23

Consistent with the NAEDB recommendations, the Fund is providing funding for professional 
development of staff that includes:

• land and housing management as well as tax administration

• human resources 

• professional training in business and accounting

The Fund is also developing templates, instruments, standards, toolkits, business models and best 
practices. This includes an inventory of products such as policies; by-laws; laws; job descriptions; leases; 
manuals as well as creating profiles of success.

The Fund’s Capacity Development (CD) program also delivers on the Fund’s five-year business plan 
(2012-2016). The Program objective is to “provide funding for First Nations communities that meet or 
are close to meeting the Fund’s criteria for the Credit Enhancement Facility, but have areas which need 
further development.” 



Mike McIntyre, CFO at Membertou celebrates with Jennifer Martin, Policy Coordinator who earned her Certified Aboriginal Professional Administrator 
designation from AFOA Canada. In past years both Mike and Jenn have been supported by the Fund through the Capacity Development Program. 
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The CD program supports the provision of training, advice and coaching that focuses on developing 
and/or expanding market-based housing capacity. It is tailored to the individual needs of First Nations 
and may help at the leadership, administrative and/or membership levels.

It’s important to keep in mind that every First Nations community is unique. The Fund is committed to 
respecting culturally relevant and appropriate approaches to respond to First Nations on a case-by-case 
basis. There is not a one-size-fits-all solution or quick fix.

The Fund’s CD program is participatory in nature and may be delivered in a variety of formats such as 
the provision of training, advice and/or coaching or policy development – all focused on ensuring that 
eligible First Nations are equipped with the tools they need to implement and sustain market housing 
programs as a viable option for their members. 

The strategic objective is to create the capacity in First Nations to become self-sufficient in developing 
and sustaining market-based housing, thereby promoting healthy communities. First Nations 
communities have a large population of youth under 25 that are the future homeowners and leaders 
of tomorrow. 
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CAPACITY DEVELOPMENT HIGHLIGHTS SINCE INCEPTION:

 • 105 First Nations have used capacity development funding for close to 1,000 initiatives

 • Approximately 3,200 individuals have participated in some form of training supported 
 by the Fund

 • 272 individuals from 26 First Nations have upgraded their accounting software skills

 • 145 individuals from 13 First Nations have taken project management training toward    
 certification

 • 7 individuals from 6 First Nations have gained their National Aboriginal Land Managers   
 Association Certification (NALMA)

 • 91 individuals from 10 First Nations have taken public administrative training toward a   
 designation

 • 314 individuals from 23 First Nations have participated in leadership, governance and    
 management training

 • 34 individuals from 4 First Nations have completed housing committee training

 • 204 individuals from 13 First Nations have completed human resources training 

KEY OUTCOMES:

 • 53 First Nations have developed a housing policy

 • 18 First Nations have developed land use plans, land use, and zoning bylaws

 • 15 First Nations have developed new financial policies and by-laws 

 • 11 First Nations have conducted land surveys in their communities

 • 13 First Nations have completed matrimonial real property (MRP) laws

 • 6 First Nations developed comprehensive community plans

 • 5 First Nations developed or revised custom election codes 

 • 8 First Nations have worked on developing housing authorities

 • 9 First Nations completed housing strategies

 • 11 First Nations completed human resources or personnel policies



Owning a Home Makes a Difference  |  First Nations Market Housing Fund26

FIR
ST

 N
ATIO

NS MARKET HOUSING FUND
FO

ND
S P

OUR LE
S LOGEMENTS DU MARCHÉ DESTINÉS AU

X PREM
IÈRES NATIONS
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Owning a Home Makes a Difference

Loan programs approved 

$900 MILLION 

6,050 HOMES 
IN POTENTIAL CREDIT APPROVED       
 TO SUPPORT AN ESTIMATED

FOR ALMOST 50% OF OUR PARTNERS

223
PARTNERS

REPRESENTING MORE THAN 
1/3 OF FIRST NATIONS
ACROSS CANADA

IN 2016
21NEW 

PARTNERS

 SOME 200 LOANS
BACKED BY THE FUND
FOR NEW OR RENOVATED 
HOUSING

16 LENDERS
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FOR ALMOST 50% OF OUR PARTNERS

FINANCIAL 
MANAGEMENT

GOOD
GOVERNANCE

COMMUNITY
COMMITMENT

2016 Highlights: 

3,200
INDIVIDUALS
TRAINED
WITH SUPPORT FROM 

THE FUND

  Capacity Development 
Building a solid foundation based on:

100 FNMHF PARTNERS APPROVED 
FOR CREDIT ENHANCEMENT AND 
CAPACITY DEVELOPMENT

105 FIRST NATIONS 
FUNDED FOR CLOSE TO
1,000 INITIATIVES

74 FIRST NATIONS APPROVED 
FOR CAPACITY DEVELOPMENT ONLY



Ruth Deatcher, Senior Business Development Officer, presenting at AFOA BC
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Spreading the Word
An “all hands-on-deck approach” has been taken as the Board of Trustees and staff strive to get the 
word out about the Fund and the efforts underway to work with our partners to provide innovative 
housing solutions for First Nations. The Fund’s Strategic Vision for 2020, “Building Trust and 
Confidence,” provides the strategic direction that we, “tell the story of the Fund’s successes and lessons 
learned.” 

Sharing our stories helps to open the doors to new partnership opportunities and break down some 
of the barriers that First Nations are facing in bridging the housing gap. Some of these success stories 
appear throughout the 2016 report. Still others remain untold and we encourage our partners to share 
these stories with us and with the Canadian public.

We tell these stories by being present at key events and through our interactions with First Nations 
leaders and members as well as with the media and decision-makers. The Fund was featured in 
the media in publications such as Enterprise Magazine which conducted interviews with the Fund’s 
Chair and Executive Director, as well as members of the credit union community and participating 
First Nations from across Canada. The Fund was involved in 22 conferences in 2016 and the Board of 
Trustees visited three First Nations communities on Cape Breton Island. Having a presence at all of 
these gatherings has given us opportunities to forge new and lasting relationships, and to learn what 
our partners are thinking and how we can serve them better. 
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CONFERENCES:

 • AFOA (Manitoba)

 • AFOA Canada National Conference (Montreal)

 • AFOA (Saskatchewan)

 • AFOA (British Columbia)

 • Assembly of Manitoba Chiefs

 • Aboriginal Business Match (Alberta)

 • Anishinabek Nation Assembly

 • Anishinabek Nation Awards

 • Assembly of First Nations-Annual General Assembly (Ontario)

 • Assembly of First Nations National Housing Infrastructure Forum (Manitoba)

 • Assembly of First Nations-Special Chiefs Assembly (Gatineau)

 • CANDO (Whitehorse)

 • First Nations Northern Housing Conference (Ontario)

 • National Aboriginal Trust Officers Association

 • All Tribal Council, Large and Unaffiliated First Nations (Ontario)

 • OFNEDA-OALA-COO

 • Our Land Conference (Ontario)

 • SERA -Sustainable Engineering in Remote Areas-Queen’s University

 • Southeast Tribal Council (Manitoba)

 • Waskaganish Housing Conference

 • Aboriginal Business Match West

 • Aboriginal Business Match Vancouver Island
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The Trustees in Action
The Fund partners with three communities on Cape Breton Island and the Trustees made the decision 
to hold their August 2016 meeting there and meet with leaders and community members using 
Membertou as their base. 

On their first day, the Trustees conducted several hours of business in Membertou’s Council Chambers. 
The Trustees were then provided with a tour and history by Dan Christmas, who would be appointed 
the first Mi’kmaq Senator in the Upper Chamber just a few months later.  The Trustees got to see 
firsthand some of the capacity building initiatives the Fund had supported, as well as numerous homes 
built with Fund-backed loans. The Trustees ended their day with a community feast shared with 
Chief Terry Paul and members of Membertou’s Council, as well as senior staff and families living in 
Fund-backed homes.  The Sons of Membertou provided exceptional entertainment for all to enjoy. 

The following day Trustees were given an historical tour of Wagmatcook led by Councillors Peter 
Pierro and Cornelia Peck.   They visited the Learning Centre which had opened in 2014 which uses 
new technologies. The Trustees learned about the various program offerings where students drawn 
from across the region can excel.  Trustees were also given a presentation on Wagmatcook’s economic 
development and cultural activities, including the extensive survey and planning they have undertaken 
for an elders’ facility.  

Deborah Taylor, Executive Director, Gail Shawbonquit, Trustee – Wi’kuom, traditional style of Mi’kmaw dwelling, 
Wagmatcook Culture and Heritage Centre 

1. Dan Christmas, Membertou, John Beaucage, Chairperson 2. Sarah Rice, Senior Business Analyst, Jennifer Martin, Policy 
Coordinator, Membertou, Deborah Taylor, Executive Director 3. Trustees, Jennifer Martin & Dan Christmas, Membertou

1 2 3



Chief Wilbert Marshall welcomed the Trustees to Potlotek First Nation

John Beaucage, Chairperson, Chief Wilbert Marshall, Potlotek First Nation, Deborah Taylor, Executive Director
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The Trustees then journeyed to Potlotek where the recently-elected Chief and Council greeted them 
warmly on the day of their installation.  They toured the community and learned from Chief Wilbert 
Marshall about the history of Chapel and Jail Islands. The Chief described the exciting economic 
development initiatives planned for the community.

Each summer the Trustees value the opportunity to spend time in communities the Fund is serving, 
meet face to face with leaders, administration, and citizens and learn about the diverse culture and 
successes of First Nations across the country.  

The Trustees plan to hold their August 2017 meeting in Manitoba.
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Our First Nation Partners
First Nations Announced in 2016

ROW 1 Little Shuwap Lake Indian Band, Quatsino First Nation, Skidegate Band Council, 
ROW 2 Teslin Tlingit Council, Tr’ondëk Hwëch’in, Tsartlip First Nation 

ROW 1 Champagne Aishihik First Nations (2011)*, Carcross/Tagish First Nation (2013),  
Kwanlin Dün First Nation (2015)

First Nations Announced Prior to 2016

Yukon

*Year of Approval 
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British Columbia

ROW 1  Seabird Island Band (2009),   Aq’am (St. Mary’s Indian Band-2010), Tk’emlups Indian Band (2010), 
Neskonlith Indian Band (2011) 

ROW 2 T’it’q’et First Nation (2012), Penticton Indian Band (2012), Adams Lake Indian Band (2013), 
Malahat Nation (2013)

ROW 3 Tsawout First Nation (2013), Okanagan Indian Band (2014), Upper Nicola Band (2014), 
Lower Nicola Indian Band (2014)

ROW 4 Simpcw First Nation (2014), Skwah First Nation (2015), Lake Cowichan First Nation (2015), 
Leq’á:mél First Nation (2015)

ROW 5 Halalt First Nation (2015), Penelakut Tribe (2015), Nooaitch Indian Band (2015), 
Skeetchestn Indian Band (2015)

ROW 6 Sechelt Indian Band (shíshálh Nation-2015)
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Alberta

Saskatchewan

Manitoba

Siksika Nation (2011)

Lac La Ronge Indian Band (2009), Onion Lake Cree Nation (2009), Flying Dust First Nation (2013) 

Long Plain First Nation (2015),  Fisher River Cree Nation (2015)
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Ontario

ROW 1  Batchewana First Nation (2009), Atikameksheng Anishnawbek (2010), Hiawatha First Nation (2010), 
Moose Cree First Nation (2010)

ROW 2 Sagamok Anishnawbek (2010), Serpent River First Nation (2010), Mississauga First Nation (2011), 
M’Chigeeng First Nation (2011)

ROW 3 Whitefish River First Nation (2011), Wikwemikong Unceded Indian Reserve(2012), 
Nipissing First Nation (2012), Wahnapitae First Nation (2013)

ROW 4 Beausoleil First Nation (2013), Ojibways of Pic River First Nation (2013), Lac Seul First Nation (2013), 
Curve Lake First Nation (2013)

ROW 5 Mohawks of the Bay of Quinte (2013), Henvey Inlet First Nation (2013), Temagami First Nation (2013), 
Aundeck Omni Kaning First Nation (2014)

ROW 6 Garden River First Nation (2014), Chippewas of Nawash Unceded First Nation (2014), 
Alderville First Nation (2015)
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Quebec

Nova Scotia

Newfoundland and Labrador

Cree Nation of Wemindji (2013), Cree Nation of Eastmain (2013), Cree First Nation of Waswanipi (2013), 
Cree Nation of Chisasibi (2014) 

Membertou (2009)

Miawpukek First Nation (2008)
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Getting to Know our Newest Partners

The Tr’ondëk Hwëch’in (TH) are a self-governing Yukon First Nation based in Dawson City.

There are roughly 1,100 TH citizens, including descendants of the Hän-speaking people, who have resided 
along the Yukon River for time immemorial, and a diverse mix of families from the Gwich’in, Northern 
Tutchone and other northern language groups.

In the 1970s, Yukon First Nations set the land-claims process in motion. Nearly 30 years later, the Tr’ondëk 
Hwëch’in Final Agreement was signed, and came into effect on September 15, 1998. Today, the Tr’ondëk 
Hwëch’in government ensures a strong and healthy future for citizens while maintaining connections to 
traditional knowledge and the land. The First Nation is governed by an elected Chief and Council, with 
direction provided from the General Assembly. The General Assembly gathers twice each year to pass 
resolutions, approve legislation and provide direction to leadership.

The Tr’ondëk Hwëch’in Housing and Infrastructure Department administers and manages general housing 
and rental programs for community residents and plays a key role in the development and planning for new 
housing construction. Working with the Fund over the last 5 years, TH has tackled governance and other 
capacity development initiatives and is now focused on addressing their housing shortage. Forty-eight new 
residential lots have recently been added to the Nation’s existing subdivision, and TH will soon complete 
the necessary policies to support homeownership expansion that will include a mix of market-based housing.

 “We are very happy to be working with the First Nations 
Market Housing Fund to increase housing options for our 
citizens. Home ownership has long been a priority for our 
First Nation, and the Tr’ondëk Hwech’in Council are pleased 
that we are one step closer to making this objective a reality.”

 Tr’ondëk Hwëch’in 
YUKON

  – Chief Roberta Joseph
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The Inland Tlingit community of Teslin is a self-governing Nation located on the shores of Teslin Lake in 
southern Yukon, 180 kilometres east of Whitehorse. The village was once a summer gathering site and 
resting place among the Coastal Tlingit travelling inland during seasonal trapping, hunting, and harvesting. 
They brought with them their clan system, potlatch tradition, language, songs and dances, which remain 
strong. The traditional territory of the Teslin Tlingit spans parts of the Yukon and British Columbia.  A 
permanent settlement was formed in Teslin in the 1940’s during the building of the Alaska Highway. When 
the movement for a Land Claims settlement began in 1973, Teslin Tlingit were active participants in the 
negotiating process, and in 1993, became one of the ‘first four’ First Nations to successfully conclude 
agreements. 

The self-governing Nation has title of 2,395.74 square kilometres of Settlement Lands with law making 
powers on behalf of over 800 Citizens, 300 of whom live in the village of Teslin, and 300 in Whitehorse.  
he governing body provides leadership of the Nation, and meets annually with its citizens in General 
Assembly. A traditional clan system Council recognizes five clan leaders, or spokespersons, chosen b 
their respective clans, while the Chief is appointed by Elders and the General Assembly. 

The Teslin Tlingit Council is actively involved in the implementation process, attempting to build new ways 
of becoming self-sufficient in a contemporary world while continuing to prosper in the traditional ways, 
retaining the language, culture and laws for future generations.

The Nation’s Capital and Infrastructure Department manages 40 rental units in Teslin and encourages its 
citizens to accept the responsibility of home ownership through program incentives for affordable housing, 
upgrades and the building of new homes. The First Nations Market Housing Fund is a welcomed opportunity 
in the community for expansion of privately owned homes or market rental housing, in response to a 
growing demand for housing.

“Teslin Tlingit Council continues to improve community 
development and provide opportunities for its Citizens. 
Through partnership and cooperation with the First Nations 
Market Housing Fund, TTC encourages and supports home 
ownership for Citizens. Together we are building a healthy, 
safe and self-sufficient community.”

 – Carl Sidney, Nha Shade Heni

 Teslin Tlingit Council 
YUKON



Owning a Home Makes a Difference  |   First Nations Market Housing Fund 39

Skidegate Band Council 
BRITISH COLUMBIA

 

 – Chief Billy Yavanovich, Chief Councillor, 
Skidegate Band Council 

Skidegate is a First Nation community nestled among the islands of Haida Gwaii (formerly Queen Charlotte 
Islands) in northwest British Columbia. It is a member of the Council of the Haida Nation. Skidegate’s 800 
plus residents maintain a strong cultural way of life that includes Haida Language, food gathering, potlatch 
ceremony, song and dance.  

There is pride in the care and upkeep among the 360 residences in the village. Eighty percent of the homes 
are owned privately by members. The coastal waterfront village is dotted with a mix of residential homes, 
totem pole site of the famous Haida artist, Bill Reid, Haida Heritage Centre and Museum. 

Logging and commercial fishing once dominated this small village. Today, eco tourism, outdoor adventure, 
and the history of the Haida people and Haida art attract most attention. Whale watching is a popular 
activity from alongside the highway throughout April and May. 

The name Skidegate, is an English version of the Haida word SGIIDAGIDS which means child of red chiton. 
The original name of the village was HLGaagilda.

“Skidegate Council intends to expand home ownership through 
the backing of loans for its members who have the financial 
ability to repay a housing loan for renovations, purchase, 
or new construction, in partnership with the First Nations 
Market Housing Fund.”      
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Quatsino First Nation 
BRITISH COLUMBIA

 

 – Chief James Nelson

Quatsino First Nation (QFN), is located 15 km west of Port Hardy on the northern tip of Vancouver Island.  
Approximately half of the 550 Quatsino membership lives on one of its 20 reserves which totals 403 hectares. 
Most of the reserve lands are isolated and not suitable for development. With limited lands available, QFN is 
looking at options for future residential development opportunities for its membership.

QFN members are employed in the forestry, fisheries and aquaculture, construction, manufacturing and 
member services.  Since QFN created the QFN Economic Development Corporation (QFNEDC) in 2007, 
a number of economic initiatives and companies have resulted.

There are a total of 88 housing units on reserve with half rental and the other half ownership. The QFN 
Housing Program is supported by a Housing Coordinator and Housing Committee.

Quatsino is working with the FNMHF to strengthen its housing program to offer renovation and new 
construction loans for existing and new homeowners as well as providing additional rental units. Developing 
a comprehensive and robust housing policy with community engagement, finding suitable land for future 
residential development, and confirming land allocation and land tenure will be a priority going forward.

 “Partnering with the First Nations Market Housing Fund 
will help our Nation move forward in terms of expanding 
home ownership, and access to renovation loans that will 
address renewable energy installation and mould remediation 
needs improving the overall living conditions for 
a healthier membership.” 
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Little Shuswap Lake Indian Band 
BRITISH COLUMBIA

  – Chief Oliver Arnouse

Little Shuswap Lake Indian Band (LSLIB), traditionally known as Skwlax (meaning Black Bear), is a member of 
the Secwepemc (Shuswap) Nation. The LSLIB Office is located in south-central British Columbia, on the Eastern 
end of Little Shuswap Lake, just off the Trans-Canada Highway #1.

The LSLIB has five reserves totalling 3112.7 hectares of land. Approximately 200 (50%) members live on 
reserve either in the main community of Quaaout, or in Tappen. There are more than 150 housing units in the 
community comprising of private ownership, Band owned rentals, and rent to own units. LSLIB uses Certificate 
of Possessions as the primary form of land tenure for home ownership. 

With a dedicated team in property, asset and land management, the First Nation is taking concrete steps 
to enable members with goals for self-sufficiency by expanding home ownership opportunities within the 
community. LSLIB looks forward to working with the Fund to support the First Nation in these efforts.

Ninety per cent of residents on reserve are employed with the majority of LSLIB members employed in First 
Nation businesses on reserve including the Quaaout Lodge and Spa, Talking Rock Golf Course, Little Shuswap 
Lake Gas station with convenience store and privately owned ventures. LSLIB places high importance on the 
economic development and growth of the community and has received recognition for its successes.

 “Given that good housing leads to healthier people, one of  
he standing goals of our leadership is to make homeownership 
and quality housing a ready option for our membership. 
We want to ensure our community continues to thrive 
and believe that facilitating access to good housing ensures 
our people can live safe, healthy and prosperous lives they 
deserve amongst people who care about each other.” 
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Tsartlip First Nation 
BRITISH COLUMBIA 

 

 – Chief Don Tom 

A signatory to the Douglas Treaty of 1850, Tsartlip First Nation is one of four Saanich tribes situated on the 
Saanich Peninsula of British Columbia’s Vancouver Island. (Saanich Nations include Pauquachin, Tsawout and 
Tseycum). Meaning “land of maples” in the SENC’OTEN language, the Nation’s main community is South 
Saanich Indian Reserve 1, located near the town of Brentwood Bay. The membership total of Tsartlip is 982, 
with the majority of 684 citizens living on reserve. 

The Nation has been recognized for its improved housing policy practises over the years with collections, 
enforcement, community education, and client counselling efforts provided to Tsartlip members in support of 
meeting their housing obligations. There are 188 houses in the community including rental, rent-to-own, and 
more than half of privately owned builds. Tsartlip remains committed to seeking alternative financing that 
benefits membership housing, and is considering the expansion of market housing projects that might include 
new construction, rental units, and an Elders/safe home on its communal lands in partnership with the Fund.

In addition to the Band office, community facilities offer employment on the Nation’s territory including the 
health centre, school, school board, and the offices of the First Peoples’ Heritage, Language, and Culture 
Council. Tsartlip operates a boat launch, and in 2014, opened a gas station and convenience store. 

 “It’s an exciting time working with FNMHF and very important 
to have more housing options for our community.” 



Trustees and staff participated in a gingerbread house competition
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OUR LENDING PARTNERS

“With a significant housing shortage in many Indigenous 
communities across Canada, CIBC is pleased to become 
a lending partner of the First Nations Market Housing 
Fund, offering Indigenous people another banking option. 
Through this partnership, we look forward to working 
with First Nations communities to address the housing issue 
on reserve and settlement lands.”

 – Alicia Dubois, Vice President, Indigenous Markets, CIBC

The Fund was pleased to join with our partners in announcing the 
addition of a new national participating lender approved in 2016. 
This brings the number of lending partners to 16.

CIBC Indigenous Banking
CIBC is committed to providing financial services to First Nations, Inuit and Métis. CIBC’s dedicated 
Indigenous Banking Team has the knowledge and experience to meet the needs of Indigenous 
clients — whether they are individuals, businesses, or communities. In addition to the team’s strong 
background in Indigenous banking, we offer products and services with distinct features to address 
specific financial issues, both on and off-reserve.

CIBC demonstrates its commitment to the Indigenous community by taking an active role in 
community-based and national sponsorship, donations, and education programs. Since 1993, CIBC 
has also been a proud supporter of Inspire, a non-profit organization that promotes the development 
and education of Indigenous people, especially youth, and most recently, supported their Building of 
Brighter Futures campaign, which funds academic bursaries and scholarships. To learn more, please 
visit our Indigenous Banking site at: www.cibc.com. 
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National

Ontario/Quebec

British Columbia

Saskatchewan
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OUR REACH

Yukon

Northwest
Territories

British
Columbia

Alberta

Saskatchewan
Manitoba

Ontario

Quebec

Atlantic

9/14

2/33

82/202

16/47

12/75
15/63

65/134
10/40

12/35

Number of First Nation applications 
received by the Fund/Total number 
of First Nation’s in Provinces and 
Territories (as of Dec. 31, 2016)



Getting the word out on radio – Clarence Miniquaken, Wemindji First Nation, Scott Flamand, Capacity Development Provider
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FINANCIAL SNAPSHOT
THE FUND

$300 MILLION 

$351 MILLION 
TOTAL ASSETS AS OF 2016

ORIGINAL INVESTMENT 
STILL HELD IN TRUST

900
MILLION 6050 HOMES

16 LENDERS

IN POTENTIAL
CREDIT 

APPROVED

TO SUPPORT 
AN ESTIMATED
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TRAVEL

1.5 MILLION 
SPENT ON CAPACITY DEVELOPMENT 

IN 2016

111 
TRIPS

181 
MEETINGS

$237, 621 $2141

ACROSS
THE COUNTRY

SPENT ON STAFF   
TRAVEL IN 2016

PER TRIP
(APPROXIMATELY)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Fund’s vision statement is, “Every First Nation family has the opportunity to have a home on 
their own land in a strong community.” The Fund’s commitment is to facilitate access to financing for 
market-based housing in First Nation communities and build the capacity of First Nations to support 
the ongoing administration of market-based housing programs. The Fund accomplishes this through 
core business activities. A summary of the 2016 performance measures and the results are presented 
herein. The performance measures noted herein are those of Year 5 (i.e. 2016) of the Business Plan 
most recently approved by the Minister, which is the 2012-16 Business Plan. 

Objective 1.0: Implement the Credit Enhancement Facility
This facility provides assurances to third-party lenders and insurers that repayment of financing 
arranged for housing by a qualified First Nation community will be honoured up to the limit of the 
agreed-upon Credit Enhancement (CE) in the event that a First Nation fails to fulfill its responsibility 
for the repayment of a loan default.

Implement the Credit Enhancement Facility – Key Initiatives

• Focus on First Nations that are already approved for credit enhancement to facilitate loans being available and units 

getting built/renovated.

• Ensure lender/First Nation agreements are in place for loans to be issued to community members.

• Facilitate the application process for ready or near-ready First Nations communities through increased on-site visits.

• Hold application processing workshops at a multi-stakeholder level within a geographic area 
(e.g. Tribal Council or Provincial /Territorial Organization (PTO)).

• Identify key influencers in each region/province to facilitate the business development and application process.

• Update marketing and communications materials for specific audiences. Focus on citizens.

Performance Measures 2016 Plan 2016 Results

48 new applications 21 new applications

43 new qualified First Nations 10 new qualified First Nations

1,719 loans approved 46 loans approved

1 new lender approved
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The original targets for the Fund were set in consideration of a number of factors and assumptions such 
as a then-current level of housing by tenure, a certain level of housing need, a level of future family 
formations and affordability at the household level. The targets did not consider the time needed to ramp 
up. The Fund took steps in 2011 to adjust the targets and, although the Fund fell short of the planned 
targets in terms of actual loans approved, it made significant advances in this area in 2016 relative to prior 
years. The target of 1,719 approved loans for 2016 was based on a plan of 191 First Nations approved for 
CE to the end of 2015 with the Fund backstopping an average of nine loans per First Nation per year. 
At the end of 2015, the Fund had actually approved 90 First Nations for CE and 130 loans for 153 homes. 
Of the 90 First Nations approved for CE at the end of 2015, the Fund backstopped loans for 15 of them, 
ranging from 1-35 loans per First Nation. 

The plan figures were developed in the summer of 2011, and therefore were four-and-one-half years old 
going into 2016. When the plan was developed, the Fund was still in its early stages of operation without 
much actual data to draw upon. At that time, only 15 First Nations had been approved for CE with one 
backstopped loan. The current number of First Nations approved for CE and loans backstopped reflects 
the unanticipated length of time required to get First Nations to accept the Fund as an alternative form of 
financing home ownership on reserve and, once approved, the time required to educate citizens on the 
many aspects of home ownership. The Fund’s experience has been that many individuals applying 
for loans are turned down until they address credit issues – all of which takes time.

In addition, a First Nation approved for CE in 2011 was able to guarantee 400 new homes over the next 
five years. Due to a severe flood in 2013 in which the First Nation lost over 150 existing homes, its efforts 
to build new homes has been delayed. The First Nation began taking applications in the spring of 2015 
and by the end of 2016 had guaranteed four homes under the Fund’s CE program, with an additional loan 
in February of 2017. 

In 2016, the Fund secured 21 applications from First Nations, falling below the planned target of 48 by 27. 
This was partially due to the fact that in the early years of the Fund, there was pent-up demand from 
First Nations to take advantage of this potential new form of on-reserve home ownership for their 
members. As time progresses, we expect slightly fewer First Nations to apply to the Fund on an annual 
basis. The plan did not reflect this reduction because as mentioned earlier, it was based on outdated 
assumptions. 

Since opening its doors until the end of 2016, the Fund had received applications from 223 of the 634 First 
Nations in Canada. This represents about 35% of First Nations and clearly demonstrates an increasing 
demand to partner with the Fund. To the end of 2016, the Fund had been operating for eight-and-one-half 
years. In the last three years, the Fund has received 105 applications, or 47%, of all applications received 
showing the increasingly positive momentum. From its inception, up until the end of 2014, the Fund 
had backstopped 72 loans for 90 homes. In 2015 and 2016 alone, the Fund backstopped an additional 
106 loans for 109 homes.  This brings the Fund’s backstopped totals to the end of 2016 to 178 loans for 
199 homes, or 55% of the total homes backstopped in the past two years. The 200th loan request was 
received prior to the end of the year.  

This shows the continuing positive trend in the Fund’s results. Prior to 2016, the Fund had approved a 
potential of $836 million for Housing Loan Guarantee Credits. At the end of 2016, the potential figure was 
$895 million - an increase of $59 million or 7%. The Fund has now been in operation for over eight years 
and, thus, continues to learn from its experiences.  
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At the end of 2016, 223 applications had been received. 100 applications were approved for 
Credit Enhancement and Capacity Development, 74 applications were approved for Capacity Development 
only, and a further 49 applications were under review.  

Based on the results at the end of 2016, 57% of the applications assessed (100 out of 174) qualified for 
Credit Enhancement and Capacity Development. Of the remaining 43%, all were approved for Capacity 
Development (CD); 77 originally qualified for CD, three had gone on to qualify for CE (one in 2012 that 
qualified for CD in 2010; and two in 2013, one of which qualified for CD in 2010, the other in 2011).  
Based on applications approved for Credit Enhancement thus far, an average of 12 home loans per 
community is forecast per year over five years at $148,000 per loan. This figure compares to nine home 
loans per year at $150,000 on average in the original targets. Although the level of loan activity per First 
Nation is less than the number of requests from qualified First Nations, the rate of progress is up to the 
members of the First Nation. As noted above, many prospective homeowners are addressing credit issues, 
as well as saving the required down payment. 

In 2016, the Fund continued to focus specific resources on First Nations that were closest to being 
operational under the Credit Enhancement Program. This has allowed for increased support in those 
communities that are determined to advance market-based housing. The Fund continues to have three 
consulting positions in place, which focus strictly on credit enhancement and getting loans to individuals.

During 2016, the Fund provided 46 partial loan guarantees to third-party lenders under the Credit 
Enhancement facility for 46 homes, bringing the accumulated total to 178 partial loan guarantees for 
199 homes. At December 31, 2016, the total value of the loans was $32.2 million, of which the Fund 
is guaranteeing 10%, or $3.2 million. An estimate of the Fund’s liability at December 31, 2016 on this 
guaranteed amount of approximately $3.2 million is $263,750. The Fund has no history of any claims 
paid to lenders at this point.  As at December 31, 2016, there were six loans in arrears, which represents 
3% of the total of 178 loans outstanding. The amounts in arrears total $9,329, which represents 0.03% 
of the total value of loans outstanding of $32.2 million. These loans in arrears range from 7 to 150 days 
outstanding. By comparison, 11 loans were in arrears at the end of 2015 totalling $20,481. 2015 was the 
first year in which arrears were recorded in Fund-backed loans. The loans in arrears have decreased by 
more than 50% at the end of 2016.  A loan is considered to be in arrears until all outstanding amounts 
are paid in full, even if partial payments are being made. The Fund’s estimated liability calculation is 
formula-driven which, for each loan in arrears, is based on the amount in arrears, the number of days it 
is in arrears and the financial strength of the First Nation that is guaranteeing the loan. The methodology 
underwent a fulsome review for use in the preparation of the Fund’s 2016 financial statements. The 
liability at the end of 2016, $263,750, was greater than that at the end of 2015, $35,052. Although fewer 
loans were in arrears and the amounts were lower at the end of 2016, the higher liability figure reflects a 
more precise interpretation of the methodology being utilized. Therefore, the difference of $228,698 was 
charged to expenses in 2016 in the Statement of Operations with a corresponding increase to the liability 
account in the 2016 Statement of Financial Position. The first year such an expense and liability were 
recorded was in 2013.
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Deliver Capacity Development Program – Key Initiatives

• The Fund will work with Standing Offer Holders/approved consultants and approved First Nations to complete 
capacity development plans and ensure delivery of training.

• The focus will be on capacity development needed to implement credit enhancement, be it for the First Nation 
government or their citizens.

• Work towards ensuring First Nations that receive capacity development funds become eligible for credit 
enhancement in as timely a manner as possible.

• Support and work with First Nations to identify needs and ensure capacity development training is meeting  
the need identified.

• Focus on ready or near-ready First Nation communities to present the benefits of the Fund and outline the 
Capacity Development program.

• Develop training tools and materials to address regional diversity and any gaps between the services available 
in the market place and the needs of eligible First Nation communities.

Performance Measures 2016 Plan 2016 Results

25 new qualified First Nations for CD with CE 10 new qualified First Nations for CD with CE

23 new qualified First Nations for CD only 6 new qualified First Nations for CD only

18 First Nations assisted by CD funds become 
eligible for CE

No First Nation assisted by CD funds became eligible for 
CE. The reassessments conducted did not confirm 
readiness of First Nations to move forward to CE without 
some additional work. 

Objective 2.0: Deliver Capacity Development Program
The Fund has established a Capacity Development (CD) program which provides funding for 
First Nations communities that meet or are close to meeting the Fund’s criteria for the Credit 
Enhancement Facility, but have areas which could be strengthened or improved. In order to implement 
and sustain a market-based housing program in any community several factors must align. These 
include a strong stable government; a governance framework that includes legislation, policies and 
processes that enable housing development; professionals who can carry out and communicate the 
government’s directions; education, business and health services. Residents must have confidence that 
they have services at their disposal to meet their family’s needs. Employment turnover regularly occurs 
through promotion and retirements. Job training is required to keep skills current and train incoming 
employees so that the system continues to function. This can be especially challenging in smaller or 
more remote communities where access to a smaller pool of expertise can be an issue. 

Funding for capacity development supports the provision of training, advice and coaching which 
focuses on improving market-based housing capacity for qualified First Nations and members of these 
communities. The maximum budget available in any given year for the Capacity Development Program 
shall not exceed 50% of the preceding year’s net income, which is calculated as investment revenue 
less expenses. Any unexpended amounts at the end of each year may be carried forward to be spent 
in subsequent years as approved in the annual Business Plans.
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Tangible new strength demonstrated in the community as 
a result of CD funding.

First Nations worked on strengthening financial 
management and governance to support implementation 
of their goals aligned with their vision. Several 
individuals completed certification and designation 
programs supported by the Fund, in housing and lands 
management. At the individual level, the decision-making 
process was enhanced as citizens attended workshops on 
financial literacy including credit and budgeting. 

CD funding commitments provided to 
First Nations communities.

During the year $1,482,172 was spent towards CD. 
Additional commitments of approximately $800,000 were 
outstanding at year-end for work yet to be completed.

New tools and materials developed to respond 
to a particular need.

A menu of products was available to First Nations to be 
customized to meet their needs without exhausting all 
available financial resources. The First Nations Sustainable 
Development Standards (FNSDS) was finalized 
and released. 

Performance Measures 2016 Plan Continued 2016 Results Continued

The Fund has qualified consultants available to assist First Nations communities meet their goals. 
They have been assessed and have met the Fund’s consultant criteria. Unfortunately, none of the 
communities approved for CD only could qualify for CE in 2016. This was largely due to areas of 
governance that needed strengthening before initiating a loan program. The single biggest challenge 
has been the implementation of a housing payment system in communities wanting to embrace 
market-based housing. 

The 2016 CD expenditures of $1,482,172 were less than those in 2015 by $2,994,792 or 67%. The 
reasons for the decrease were two-fold: (1) there was a conscious effort to stay within the budget 
approved by the Minister for CD expenditures of $3,888,000 per the 2012-16 Business Plan, and (2) 
some First Nations obtained alternate funding from Budget 2016 which helped to meet their needs 
and took some of the pressure off the Fund.  In some cases, there were cost-shared initiatives which 
reduced the amount the Fund needed to spend.  It should be noted that these dollars are not lost 
and remain available for capacity building initiatives in subsequent years. 
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Year
Budget Per The  
Minister ($)

Actual Amount Spent 
On Cd ($)

Increase (Decrease) 
In Actual Spending 
Compared To Prior Year ($)

2008* 0 0 n/a

2009 1,547,000 2,500 2,500

2010 2,792,412 183,382 180,882

2011 1,485,000 1,022,903 839,521

2012 2,727,000 2,041,603 1,018,700

2013 3,577,500 2,880,541 838,938

2014 3,834,000 5,404,490 2,523,949

2015 3,888,000 4,476,964 (927,526)

2016 3,888,000 1,482,172 (2,994,792)

23,738,912 17,494,555

It should be noted that the Fund is self-sustaining. The capacity development is fully funded from 
income earned from the investment of a $300 million capital contribution by the Federal Government 
to establish the Fund. There is no additional federal money provided. 

Capacity Development funding for all but tuition is only advanced when the products are prepared and 
accepted by the Fund and the First Nation. This process, which assures a high-quality product, directly 
affects the cash outflow in a given year. It is clear that the investment in CD has been continuing to 
increase each year, except during 2015 and 2016 when, as noted earlier, efforts were made to reduce 
capacity development spending to stay within the budget approved by the Minister. A summary of 
the Capacity Development activity in 2016 is as follows:

 •  10 consultants signed contracts for CD work at 13 First Nations

 • 5 group trainers provided CD training at 6 First Nations

 •  10 learning institutions provided training for 41 initiatives at 23 First Nations

Going into 2017, the Fund is carrying forward a balance of $7,181,428 available for capacity 
development spending in subsequent years. The amount that can be spent in 2017 will be subject 
to the Minister’s approval. Any unexpended amounts at the end of 2017 may be carried forward 
to be spent in subsequent years if approved in the Business Plan.

* The Fund was not permitted to spend any money on CD in 2008 
as it did not have any net income from a prior year. 

CENTRE?
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Effectively Manage the Fund

Chart a Path to Greater First Nation Control of Fund – Key Initiatives

• Review each agreement beginning with the Management Agreement to identify opportunities 
for greater independence.

Performance Measures 2016 Plan 2016 Results

Identify areas in the Management Agreement that could 
potentially be revised or eliminated as part of the renewal 
process in March 2015.

Trustees decided the direction they wished to take with 
respect to the Management Agreement, which expired 
in March 2015, and communicated their position to the 
Funder. The Management Agreement was not extended 
beyond March 2015. During 2016, the Fund hired a new 
information technology service provider to replace the 
services being provided by the Fund’s Manager. The Fund’s 
Manager continues to provide selected management 
services to the Fund pursuant to the terms of the 
Management Agreement notwithstanding its expiry. 

Finance – Key Initiatives

• Continue the process to obtain confirmation that the Fund is exempt from paying income taxes.

• Implement revised accounting standards, when required.

Objective 3.0: Effectively Manage Investment Services
The Fund is self-sustaining over the long term, through the investment of its contribution and the 
reinvestment of a portion of its revenues. All investment activity conforms to the requirements of the 
Fund’s Statement of Investment Policy and the Fund’s Investment Strategy, both of which are revisited 
annually. Investment income in 2016 was sufficient to provide for both administrative expenses and 
funding for Capacity Development requirements in 2016.  

Objective 4.0: Effectively Manage the Fund
To remain a strong organization that is able to fulfill its mandate, the Fund draws on sound financial 
and risk management policies, efficient and reliable information technology processes and systems, 
and effective human resources management.  

Effectively Manage Investment Services – Key Initiatives

• Review the Statement of Investment Policy and the Investment Strategy.

• Preserve and grow capital.

Performance Measures 2016 Plan 2016 Results

Investment income is sufficient to cover administrative 
expenses, provide for Capacity Development and meet 
future Fund objectives.

Investment income exceeded total expenses.

Investment income earned – $11,056,204

In 2016, the Trustees continued the work that began 
in 2015 to investigate a number of potential changes 
to the Fund’s Statement of Investment Policy and 
Investment Strategy to increase the income potential 
of the Fund. The Fund hired experts in the investment field 
to assist in creating a revised investment policy. 
The Fund is continuing to work with the Funder to explore 
investment possibilities within the Minister of Finance 
governing framework. 



Owning a Home Makes a Difference  |  First Nations Market Housing Fund 57

Performance Measures 2016 Plan 2016 Results

The Fund continues to pursue all available avenues to 
support its position as a non-taxable entity for income 
tax purposes with the Canada Revenue Agency (CRA), the 
Department of Finance and/or the courts if necessary.

In March of 2016, the Fund filed its T3 Trust Income Tax 
and Information Return [“Return”] showing nil taxable 
income for 2015. A Trust Notice of Assessment [“Notice”] 
dated November 17, 2016 was received from the CRA 
indicating that the assessed taxable income and taxes 
payable were nil for 2015. The Notice indicates that the 
CRA can reassess the return at any time within three 
years of the date of the Notice if it finds an error during a 
review or audit of the return.  

The Fund will remain engaged with CMHC as Funder on 
the outcomes of the evaluation done in 2011 and plans 
to actively participate in the follow-up activities including 
the development and implementation of recommenda-
tions where appropriate.

The completion of the evaluation did not take place until 
the latter part of 2012. The evaluation was published 
in 2015.The Fund provided updated information to 
Government and is awaiting direction from Government. 
The Fund has actively participated in the National Housing 
Strategy discussions led by CMHC and INAC. 

The Fund will remain current on all new information 
pertaining to the revised accounting standards for 
government not-for-profit organizations (GNFPOs).

The 2016 financial statements were prepared in accordance 
with the Public Sector Accounting Handbook which 
constitutes generally accepted accounting principles 
in Canada [“GAAP”] for government not-for-profit 
organizations. There were no changes to GAAP during 2016.

Human Resource – Key Initiatives

• Attract and retain staff from and with a strong working background in First Nation communities.

• Provide staff training / mentoring to support Fund activities.

Performance Measures 2016 Plan 2016 Results

The Fund will hire staff that are familiar with regional 
perspectives, positions, and political landscapes in order 
to move forward effectively. 

During the year, the Fund benefited from continuity of 
regular staff; there were no new regular hires. The Fund 
continues to employ a full complement of 11 permanent 
staff. During 2016, the Fund also had up to five contract 
positions filled. 
At the end of the year one staff member went on ma-
ternity leave and another signalled a desire to move on. 
The Fund continued to fine-tune its staffing needs and to 
explore succession planning during 2016.  

The Fund will support the staff with training as required, 
team building and will ensure that internal communi-
cations are effective to ensure retention and engaged 
personnel.

Training included staff attendance at conferences 
related to accreditation, as well as workshops on topics 
of governance and operations related to the Fund. 
Some staff training was also taken on the information 
technology systems, to embrace new equipment features 
and advance full functionality.

The Fund has filed T3 Trust Income Tax and Information Returns [“Returns”] showing nil taxable income 
for each of 2008 - 2015. Trust Notices of Assessment [“Notices”] were received from the CRA indicating 
that the assessed taxable income and taxes payable were nil for each of the eight years. The Notices 
indicate that the CRA can reassess the return at any time within three years of the date of the Notices if 
it finds an error during a review or audit of the return. The three-year period on the Notices for the years 
2008 – 2012 has now expired. 

During 2016, the Fund hired a new information technology support provider. Based on the 
recommendations of the provider, the Fund either leased or purchased new equipment, such 
as laptops, smart phones, printers, and servers, to improve its information technology capabilities.



Owning a Home Makes a Difference  |  First Nations Market Housing Fund58

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL RESULTS

Financial results as compared to plan are as follows:

* The plan figures noted above are those of Year 5 (i.e. 2016) from the approved 2012-16 Business Plan. 
** Budgeted CD expenditures in any given year shall be approved by the Minister responsible for CMHC 
as part of the annual Business Plan.

The Fund operates in a dynamic environment characterized by ever-changing economic and social 
factors that make business planning a challenge, particularly for the latter part of a five-year cycle. 
As could be expected, annual results for specific financial line items have varied from the original 
projections made in the 2012-2016 Business Plan. However, the overall figures are consistent with the 
projections made in 2011. The Fund’s successes throughout 2016 attest to its commitment to succeed 
and its flexibility in adjusting to its evolving environment.

Cash and cash equivalents, Long-term Investments and Deferred Contributions were all above 
the planned figures as total actual expenses were less than planned over the period 2012-16 by 
approximately $5.3 million.  

The 2016 Statement of Investment Policy required the Fund to keep a minimum of 2% of its 
investments in cash or cash equivalent investments (which includes accrued interest receivable), 
which allows a maximum of 98% to be invested in long-term fixed income instruments. The actual 
figures at the end of 2016 were 97.1% in long-term instruments and 2.9% in cash and cash equivalents.

Investment income was lower than planned because of lower investment rates earned on long term 
bonds during 2016. The 2016 returns reflected lower bond yields which were not foreseen when the 
2012-16 Business Plan was developed in the summer of 2011. 

2016 Plan ($)* 2016 Results ($)

Cash and Cash Equivalents 6,926,000 8,853,806

Long-term Investments 339,350,000 340,658,262

Deferred Contributions 347,336,000 349,351,961

Investment Income 12,930,000 11,056,204

Administration Expenses 4,564,857 3,787,539

Capacity Development Expenses 3,888,000 1,482,172

Funds available for 2017 
Capacity Development ** 4,082,704 7,181,428
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Administration expenses were under projected amount by $777,318, primarily due to travel costs 
related to on-site visits being lower than planned because the number of applications received from 
First Nations was less than planned (21 instead of 48). The actual number of First Nations approved for 
CE in 2016 was also less than planned (10 instead of 43). In terms of travel costs, Fund staff were able 
to achieve efficiencies in time and cost savings by holding multiple meetings and visits to First Nations 
communities and lenders in a single trip.

Capacity development expenses were $2,405,828 below plan because of the conscious effort to stay 
below the budget approved by the Minister for CD expenditures of $3,888,000 per the 2012-16 
Business Plan. As well, some First Nations did not require all the CD funds in 2016.  Although 
approximately 80% of the available budget had been committed; the funds were simply not fully 
advanced given the state of initiative completion. 

Based on 2016 results, up to $7,181,428 is available for capacity development in 2017. Actual CD 
expenditures in any given year shall be approved by the Minister responsible for CMHC as part of 
the annual Business Plan.  Any unexpended amounts at the end of 2017 may be carried forward to 
be spent on Capacity Development activities in subsequent years.

Honourable Carolyn Bennett, Minister of Indigenous and Northern Affairs, Ruth Deatcher, Senior Business Development Officer, 
AFN Annual General Assembly, Niagara Falls



Owning a Home Makes a Difference  |  First Nations Market Housing Fund60

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting 
For the year ended December 31, 2016

The First Nations Market Housing Fund management is responsible for the integrity and objectivity 
of the financial statements and related financial information presented in this annual report. 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles,  and  consequently  include  amounts which are based on the best estimates and 
judgement of management. The financial information contained elsewhere in this annual report 
is consistent with that in the financial statements.

The First Nations Market Housing Fund maintains appropriate systems and related internal controls to 
provide reasonable assurance that financial information is reliable, assets are safeguarded, transactions 
are properly authorized and in accordance with relevant legal documents governing the Fund, resources 
are managed efficiently and economically, and operations are carried out effectively.

The Board of Trustees, through an Audit Committee, oversees  management’s responsibilities for 
financial reporting and internal control systems. The Board of Trustees, upon the recommendation 
of the Audit Committee, has approved the financial statements.

The financial statements have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted auditing standards. Ernst & Young has full access to, and meet periodically with, 
the Audit Committee to discuss their audit and related matters.

Deborah Taylor 
Executive Director

March 9, 2017

 
 

George Jenkins, CPA CA
Manager, Fund Administration
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 Independent Auditors’ Report 
TO THE TRUSTEES OF THE FIRST NATIONS MARKET HOUSING FUND 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of First Nations Market Housing Fund, 
which comprise the statements of financial position as at December 31, 2016, and the statements 
of operations, changes in deferred contributions and cash flows for the year then ended, and 
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
 

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards for government not-for-profit 
organizations, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 
 

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 
 

OPINION 
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of the First Nations Market Housing Fund as at December 31, 2016, and the results of its 
operations, changes in deferred contributions and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with Canadian public sector accounting standards for government not-for-profit organizations.

Ottawa, Canada,

March 9, 2017

Chartered Professional Accountants
 Licensed Public Accountants
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

John Beaucage
Chairperson

On behalf of the Trustees:

Maurice Biron, CPA, CGA
Audit Chairperson

 As at December 31

Assets 
Current

2016 ($) 2015 ($)

Cash and cash equivalents [note 3] 8,853,806 8,102,715 

Accrued interest receivable 1,233,823 1,497,961 

Prepaid expenses 36,336 39,257 

Accounts receivable 2,383 848 

Total current assets 10,126,348 9,640,781 

Long-term investments [note 4] 340,658,262  336,880,148 

Capital assets, net [note 5] 180,601        51,451 

350,965,211    346,572,380 

Liabilities 
Current

Accounts payable and accrued
liabilities [notes 6 and 14]

      1,265,524         2,743,162

Total current liabilities        1,265,524         2,743,162 

Credit enhancement guarantee liability [note 9]              263,750               35,052 

Capital lease obligation [note 13]              83,976 —

Deferred contributions [note 7]      349,351,961      343,794,166

350,965,211      346,572,380 

Commitments and contingent liabilities [notes 9 and 12]

See accompanying note
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STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN 
DEFERRED CONTRIBUTIONS

Year Ended December 31

Revenue 2016 ($) 2015 ($)

Recognition of deferred contributions related to
current year operations

5,498,409 8,464,998

Total revenue          5,498,409         8,464,998 

Expenses

Administrative [notes 5, 8 and 14] 3,787,539         3,962,872 

Capacity development [note 11] 1,482,172          4,476,964 

Credit enhancement guarantee [note 9] 228,698               25,162 

Total Expenses          5,498,409          8,464,998 

Excess of revenue over expenses for the year — —

See accompanying notes.

Year Ended December 31

2016 ($) 2015 ($)

Deferred contributions, beginning of year      343,794,166 340,752,018

Investment income        11,056,204 11,507,146

Recognized as revenue to match expenses        (5,498,409) (8,464,998)

Deferred contributions, end of year      349,351,961 343,794,166

See accompanying notes.



Owning a Home Makes a Difference  |  First Nations Market Housing Fund64

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31

Operating activities 2016 ($) 2015 ($)

Excess of revenue over expenses for the year — —

Add items not affecting cash
     Depreciation of capital assets               20,906               11,373 

     Credit enhancement guarantee liability               228,698               25,162 

Net change in non-cash working capital balances 
related to operations [note 10]        (1,212,114)           (225,997)

Net increase in deferred contributions         5,557,795         3,071,376 

Non-cash amortization of premiums 
and discounts         1,278,269         1,456,952 

Cash provided by operating activities         5,873,554         4,338,866 

Capital activities

Acquisition of capital assets            (59,269)               (2,062)

Cash used in capital activities             (59,269)               (2,062)

Investing activities

Purchase of long-term investments      (38,133,383)     (36,696,758)

Sale and maturity of long-term investments       33,077,000       32,752,000 

Cash used in investing activities        (5,056,383)        (3,944,758)

Financing activities   

Principal payment under capital leases       (6,811)                       — 

Cash used in financing activities              (6,811)                     — 

Net increase in cash during the year            751,091           392,046 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year        8,102,715         7,710,669 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year         8,853,806         8,102,715 

See accompanying notes.
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 NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2016

1. Nature of Operations
The First Nations Market Housing Fund [the “Fund”] was established on March 31, 2008 through 
an Indenture of Trust in the Province of Ontario. The purpose of the Fund is to facilitate the availability 
of financing for, and the accessible supply of, market-based housing in First Nations communities. 
The Fund will also help to create the capacity in First Nations communities to become self-sufficient in 
developing and sustaining market-based housing, thereby contributing to the social welfare and civic 
improvement of First Nations communities and their residents. The maximum amount available for 
capacity development in any given year shall not exceed 50% of the preceding period’s net income and 
any unexpended amount at the end of the year may be carried forward to be spent in subsequent years 
[note 11]. An over-arching goal is to move to a system that provides to First Nation residents the same 
housing opportunities and responsibilities in their communities as other Canadians. The Fund operates 
on a not-for-profit basis. The beneficiary of the Fund is Her Majesty the Queen in right of Canada.

The Fund’s vision statement is that “every First Nation family has the opportunity to have a home on 
their own land in a strong community”.

On April 28, 2008, the Fund entered into the following agreements with Canada Mortgage and 
Housing Corporation [“CMHC”]:

 • A Funding Agreement which sets out the terms and conditions for the transfer and use of a $300 
million contribution from the Funder [CMHC] on behalf of the Government of Canada to the 
Fund. This agreement provides additional direction of the Fund’s non-profit activities, reporting 
obligations, permitted use of funding and duties of Trustees.

 • A Management Agreement which sets out the terms and conditions for the management of 
day-to-day activities of the Fund by the Manager [CMHC] on behalf of the Fund. The initial term 
of the Management Agreement was for five years. The term of the Management Agreement 
was extended by agreement dated October 28, 2014 to March 31, 2015.  No further extension 
of the term of the Management Agreement has been entered into. CMHC continues to provide 
select management services to the Fund pursuant to the terms of the Management Agreement 
notwithstanding its expiry.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies
These financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Public Sector [“PS”] Accounting 
Handbook including the use of the standards for government not-for-profit organizations that 
include sections PS 4200 to PS 4270, which constitutes generally accepted accounting principles for 
government not-for-profit organizations in Canada [“GAAP”]. The significant accounting policies used 
in the preparation of these financial statements conform in all material respects with Canadian GAAP 
and are summarized as follows: 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Due to the short-term nature, the carrying amount of accounts receivable and accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities approximates their fair values. 

Cash equivalents are initially recognized at fair value. The fair value of a financial instrument on 
initial recognition is based on the transaction price; that is, the fair value of the consideration given 
or received. Financial instruments are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest rate method. The fair value of cash equivalents is disclosed in note 3.

Long-term investments are initially recognized at fair value. These financial instruments are measured 
at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. The fair value of long-term investments is 
disclosed in note 4.

Transaction-date accounting is used to record the purchase and sale of investments. Premiums and 
discounts are amortized to income using the effective interest rate method over the period to maturity. 
All transaction costs are amortized on a straight-line basis.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and short-term, highly liquid investments with an original 
term to maturity of 98 days or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash. Cash 
equivalents are measured at amortized cost.

Cash equivalents must be rated by at least two rating agencies as outlined in the table below. If an 
issuer has no long-term rating, one short-term rating is required for investments with a term of less 
than one year. In instances where the rating agencies’ opinions differ, the lowest available rating shall 
be used for the purpose of determining an instrument’s eligibility for investment.
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LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS

Long-term investments are purchased with the intention to hold until maturity. Premiums and discounts 
are amortized to income using the effective interest rate method over the period to maturity. Gains and 
losses on disposal and impairments are recorded in income in the period incurred.

Long-term investments must be rated by at least two rating agencies as outlined in the table below.  In 
instances where the rating agencies’ opinions differ, the lowest available rating shall be used for the 
purpose of determining an instrument’s eligibility for investment.

CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital assets comprise furniture and equipment and leasehold improvements made to the Fund’s 
office space. Capital assets are recorded at acquisition cost. Depreciation of furniture and equipment is 
provided on a declining balance basis over the assets’ estimated useful life at a rate of 20%. Leasehold 
improvements have been fully amortized over the initial term of the lease, which was five years.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Fund follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions. Investment income is deferred 
and recognized as revenue in the period in which the related expenses are recognized.

CREDIT ENHANCEMENT FACILITY

Under its Credit Enhancement Facility, the Fund provides guarantees to third-party lenders and insurers 
that repayment of financing arranged for housing in qualified First Nations communities will be 
honoured up to the limit of the agreed upon Credit Enhancement in the event that a First Nation fails to 
fulfill its responsibility for the repayment of a loan default. The Fund’s accumulated Credit Enhancement 
coverage cannot exceed the net worth of the Fund, with the Fund defining net worth as the difference 
between what the Fund owns and what it owes. As long as the Fund remains a going concern, the 
deferred contribution is not considered an amount owing by the Fund.

Minimum Rating Criteria – Term Less Than 365 Days

Investment Moody’s S&P DBRS

Canadian Governments and their Crown Agents P-1(A) / A3 A-1(Low) / A- R-1(low) / A(low)

All Other Investments P-1 / Aa3 A-1 / AA- R-1(mid) / AA(low)

Minimum Rating Criteria – Term Greater Than One Year

Investment Moody’s S&P DBRS

Canadian Governments and their Crown Agents A3 A- A(low)

All Other Investments Aa3 AA- AA(low)
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LEASES

The Fund classifies leases as capital or operating at the outset of the lease agreement based on 
whether the terms transfer substantially all the benefits and risk incident to ownership to the Fund. 

INCOME TAXES

The Fund is accounted for as an entity that, pursuant to section 149 of the Income Tax Act (Canada) 
[the “Act”], is not subject to income taxes.  

The Fund had discussions with the Rulings Directorate [“CRA Rulings”] of the Canada Revenue Agency 
[“CRA”] about its non-taxable status.  At the conclusion of the most recent round of discussions in 
2009, CRA Rulings was not prepared to support the Fund’s position that it is non-taxable pursuant to 
subsection 149(1) of the Act. 

The Fund has filed T3 Trust Income Tax and Information Returns [“Returns”] showing nil taxable 
income for each of 2008 – 2015. Trust Notices of Assessment [“Notices”] were received from the CRA 
indicating that the assessed taxable income and taxes payable were nil for each of these eight years. 
The Notices indicate that the CRA can reassess the return at any time within three years of the date of 
the Notices if it finds an error during a review or audit of the return. The three year time period on the 
Notices for the years 2008 – 2012 have now expired.  The 2013 Notice was dated July 30, 2014, the 
2014 Notice was dated August 19, 2015 and the 2015 Notice was dated November 17, 2016.

The Fund plans to pursue all available avenues to support its position with the CRA, and the courts, 
if necessary, to ultimately determine that the Fund is exempt from Part I tax under the Act.  Should it 
ultimately be determined that the Fund is subject to income tax, any income taxes owing since 2013 of 
the Fund would be approximately $3,200,000 [2015 − $2,900,000].

MEASUREMENT UNCERTAINTY

The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reporting amounts of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities, at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of the revenues 
and expenses during the period.  Items requiring the use of significant estimates include the credit 
enhancement guarantee liability as well as commitments and contingent liabilities.

Estimates are based on the best information available at the time of financial statement preparation 
and are reviewed annually to reflect new information as it becomes available. Measurement 
uncertainty exists in these financial statements. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 
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3. Cash and Cash Equivalents
The following table shows the composition of cash and cash equivalents:

As at December 31, 2016, the fair value of the Fund’s investments in Government of Canada Treasury 
Bills was $8,310,993 [2015 – $7,887,582]. The fair value of the Fund’s Government of Canada Treasury 
Bills is determined by reference to published price quotations in an active market.

4. Long-Term Investments
The following table shows the contractual maturity structure and average yield for the long-term 
investments:

As at December 31, 2016, the fair value of the Fund’s long-term investments was $354,510,950 
[2015 – $365,618,472]. The fair value of the Fund’s long-term investments is determined by reference 
to published price quotations in an active market.

2016 ($) 2015 ($)

Cash 545,002 217,503

Government of Canada Treasury Bills 
and Banker’s Acceptances

8,308,804 7,885,212

8,853,806 8,102,715

Within 
1 Year ($)

1 To 3  
Years ($)

3 To 5  
Years ($)

Over 5  
Years ($)

2016 ($) 2015 ($)

Provincial

Bonds
28,989,850 66,713,833 53,787,464 146,556,859 296,048,006 292,370,431 

Sovereign

Bonds
4,478,512 — — — 4,478,512 4,518,632

Government 
of Canada 
Bonds

— — 13,395,381 26,736,363 40,131,744 39,991,085 

Total 33,468,362 66,713,833 67,182,845 173,293,222 340,658,262 336,880,148

Yield 3.88% 3.98% 3.33% 2.67% 3.18% 3.34%
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5. Capital Assets
The following table shows the composition of capital assets:

Depreciation expense is $20,906 [2015 − $11,373] and is included in administration 
expenses in the Statement of operations.

6. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
The following table presents the composition of accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

7. Capital Management
The Fund includes deferred contributions in the definition of capital. As at December 31, 2016, the 
deferred contributions were $349,351,961 [2015 – $343,794,166]. These contributions were primarily 
invested in long-term investments with the balance being held in cash and cash equivalents to meet 
short-term operating requirements.

The Fund’s objectives when managing capital are to minimize volatility of expected investment results 
and cash flows in order to earn sufficient returns so that the Fund can fulfill its objectives, maintain 
sufficient liquidity to meet business requirements as they arise and to preserve capital.

The deferred contribution comprises the initial contribution of $300 million from the Funder along with 
any investment income net of any expenses incurred by the Fund. The Indenture of Trust requires that 
any income, gains and accretions, after expenses, shall be added to this initial contribution and be 
devoted exclusively to the objectives of the Fund. The Indenture of Trust also requires that the Fund’s 
contingent and actual obligations under the credit enhancement facility not exceed the net worth of 
the Fund, with the Fund defining net worth as the difference between what the Fund owns and what it 
owes. The Fund is in compliance with these conditions as set out in the Indenture of Trust.  

The Fund’s objectives for managing capital have been met for the year ended December 31, 2016.

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes that were applicable for the year ended 
December 31, 2016.

2016 ($) 2015 ($)

Furniture and equipment 325,630 175,574

Accumulated depreciation 145,029 124,123

Net book value 180,601 51,451

2016 ($) 2015 ($)

CMHC 242,481 268,205

Other accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,023,043 2,474,957

1,265,524 2,743,162
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2016 ($) 2015 ($)

Professional and technical services [a] 2,544,543 2,757,070

Travel 251,257 367,109

Trustee governance [b] 404,413 277,162

Business premises [c] 177,347 175,800

Computer and telecommunications 170,715 132,853

Other [d] 239,264 252,878

3,787,539 3,962,872

8. Administrative Expenses
The following table presents the composition of administrative expenses.

[a] Professional and technical services include the following services: all staff [salaries and fringe 
benefits], Investment Manager, legal, audit, banking, custodial, insurance, consulting and other 
miscellaneous services.

[b] Trustee governance includes honoraria and travel expenses for up to nine Trustees.

[c] Business premises mainly include office rental expenses and utilities. 

[d] Other expenses mainly include marketing and promotion, depreciation of furniture and equipment, 
office supplies and postage and courier.

The various management fees and out-of-pocket costs related to CMHC as discussed in note 14 
are primarily included within the “Professional and technical services” and the “Computer and 
telecommunications” accounts listed above.
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9. Credit Enhancement Facility
As at December 31, 2016, the Fund has approved maximum housing loan guarantee credit to First 
Nation communities of $894.7 million [2015 – $836.3 million] based on an estimated 6,050 units 
[2015 – 5,500].

Since its inception, the Fund has provided guarantees for 199 units [2015 – 153], including both single 
and multiunit rental properties. A total of 166 guarantees [2015 – 130] to third party lenders were in 
place under the Credit Enhancement Facility for a maximum guaranteed amount as at December 31, 
2016 of $3,016,620 [2015 – $2,477,879]. The amortization period of the loans ranges from 6-25 years. 
The First Nations have indemnified the Fund for any amounts that may be paid by the Fund to the 
lender under the Credit Enhancement Facility.

An estimate of the Fund’s liability at December 31, 2016 on this guaranteed amount of $3,016,620 is 
$263,750 [2015 – $35,052]. The Fund has no history of any claims paid to lenders at this point. 
As at December 31, 2016, there are six loans in arrears [2015 – 11 loans]. The amounts in arrears 
total $9,329 [2015 – $20,481] and range from 7-150 days in arrears [2015 – 15-210 days]. The Fund’s 
estimated liability calculation is formula-driven which, for each loan in arrears, is based on the amount 
in arrears, the number of days it is in arrears and the financial strength of the First Nation that is 
guaranteeing the loan. As the liability established at the end of 2015 was $35,052, the difference of 
$228,698 was charged to expenses in 2016 [2015 – $25,162] in the Statement of operations with 
a corresponding increase to the liability account in the 2016 Statement of financial position. 
The first year such an expense and liability was recorded was in 2013.

10. Net Change in Operating Working Capital Balances

2016 ($) 2015 ($)

Decrease in accrued interest receivable 264,138 152,087

Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses 2,921                (3,772)

Increase in accounts receivable (1,535) (848)

Decrease in accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities

 (1,477,638)   (373,464)

 (1,212,114)           (225,997)
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11. Capacity Development
The maximum amount available for capacity development in any given year shall not exceed 50% of 
the preceding period’s net income. For purposes of determining the amount of capacity development 
available, the Fund defines net income as investment and other income less any expenses incurred 
during the period.

Changes in funds available for capacity development are as follows:

2016 ($) 2015 ($)

Balance, beginning of year 5,884,702 8,840,592

Add

  Allocations during the year [50% of net income] 2,778,898 1,521,074

8,663,600 10,361,666

Less

  Funds expensed towards capacity development 1,482,172 4,476,964

Balance, end of year 7,181,428 5,884,702

 ($)

2017 72,518

2018 42,302

Total 114,820

 ($)

2017 53,681

2018 53,681

2019 22,367

129,729

For 2017, the Fund has $7,181,428 [2016 – $5,884,702] available for capacity development. Any 
unexpended amounts at the end of 2017 may be carried forward to be spent in subsequent years.

12. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities
The Fund leases office premises and certain computer equipment under long-term operating leases 
expiring up to July 31, 2018. Future minimum annual lease payments over the next three years are 
as follows:

In addition, on June 1, 2016, the Fund entered into a three-year contract with an information 
technology (IT) organization to provide IT support services. Future minimum annual payments 
over the next 3 years are as follows:
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 ($)

2017 27,834

2018 27,834

2019 23,211

2020 9,343

2021 5,450

Total minimum lease payments 93,672

Less amounts representing interest 9,696

Present value of net minimum capital lease payments 83,976

Total interest on leases for the year was $1,705 [2015 – nil].

On April 28, 2008 the Fund entered into a five year Management Agreement with CMHC. The term 
of the Management Agreement was extended by agreement dated October 28, 2014 to March 
31, 2015. No further extension of the term of the Management Agreement has been entered into. 
CMHC continues to provide selected management services to the Fund pursuant to the terms of the 
Management Agreement notwithstanding its expiry. This Agreement requires the Fund to reimburse 
the Manager for all reasonable actual direct, indirect and overhead costs it incurs. These costs include 
salary and fringe benefit costs of certain employees of the Fund, investment manager fees, human 
resource administration fees and other related out of pocket costs incurred by CMHC on behalf of 
the Fund.  For part of 2016, these costs also included information technology fees and lease costs for 
computer equipment, as in prior years.  During 2016, a new agreement was signed and these costs are 
now provided by another service provider as noted above. 

As at December 31, 2016, the Fund had entered into contracts with suppliers to provide capacity 
development services. The work performed by these suppliers to December 31, 2016 but not yet paid 
by the Fund of $332,866 [2015 – $1,695,445] is included in note 6 under “Other accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities”. The balance owing on these contracts for work that was not yet performed as at 
December 31, 2016 is approximately $815,000 [2015 – $1,583,000].

As at December 31, 2016, the Fund had entered into contracts with consultants to provide professional 
services to the Fund. The work performed by these consultants to December 31, 2016 but not yet billed 
to the Fund of $46,324 [2015 – $88,010] is included in note 6 under “Other accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities.” The balance owing on these contracts for work that was not yet performed as at 
December 31, 2016 is approximately $24,000 [2015 – $167,000].

As at December 31, 2016, the Fund had made guarantees to third party lenders totaling $3,016,620 
[2015 – $2,477,879] under its Credit Enhancement Facility. See note 9, Credit Enhancement Facility 
for details.

13. Capital Lease Obligation
The Fund leases certain computer and office equipment under long term leases, which have been 
capitalized. The Fund leases printers on a five-year term, which will end on August 7, 2021. The Fund 
also leases personal computers on a three-year term, which will end on July 31, 2019. Future minimum 
annual lease payments over the next 5 years are as follows:
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14. Related Party Transactions
The Fund is related to the Government of Canada through the Funding Agreement, which provided 
the $300 million contribution by CMHC in 2008 as agent of and on behalf of the Government 
of Canada. The net equity of the Fund is consolidated annually with the financial results of the 
Government of Canada in the Public Accounts. 

The Fund is related to the CMHC Minister through the Management Agreement which was required to 
be approved by the CMHC Minister pursuant to Section 16.1 of the Indenture of Trust.  

The Fund is also related to CMHC through the Funding and Management Agreements. All payments to 
CMHC are made in the normal course of business, measured at the exchange amount and are made in 
accordance with the terms of the Funding and Management Agreements.

In 2016, the Fund purchased $881,485 [2015 – $961,025] from CMHC related to various 2016 
management fees and reimbursed CMHC for $21,884 [2015 – $36,531] in out-of-pocket costs. At 
December 31, 2016, the Fund owed CMHC $242,481 [2015 – $268,205].  

15. Market, Interest Rate, Credit and Liquidity Risk

MARKET RISK

Market risk is the risk of adverse financial impact arising from changes in underlying market factors, 
including interest rate risk and credit risk. 

INTEREST RATE RISK

Interest rate risk relates to the impact of interest rate changes on the Fund’s cash flow and financial 
position. The risk arises from differences in the timing and amount of cash flows related to the Fund’s 
financial assets and liabilities. 

The Fund has limited exposure to interest rate risk given its diversification strategy, 
its held-to-maturity approach, and by purchasing fixed income securities using a laddered approach.

CREDIT RISK

Credit risk is the risk of loss arising from counterparty’s inability to fulfill its contractual obligations. 
Credit risk includes the risk of default, and encompasses both the probability of loss and the probable 
size of the loss, net of recoveries and collateral, over time. 

The Fund’s maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of its investments and various accounts 
receivable and the risks under the Credit Enhancement Facility. It is management’s opinion that the 
Fund is not exposed to significant credit risks arising from these financial instruments. The Fund’s credit 
risk associated with investments is managed through the implementation of policies, which includes 
limits to the permitted investments and minimum credit ratings. These credit ratings are described in 
note 2. As at December 31, 2016, all investments held by the Fund were issued by the Government of 
Canada, a Province, or an international development agency.

LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund would have insufficient cash flows to meet its obligations 
associated with financial liabilities. 

The Fund has a cash flow planning process in place to ensure sufficient resources meet current and 
projected cash requirements. Liquidity sources include cash, interest income, and the maturity of fixed 
income investments.
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 GOVERNANCE
 
The governance, management and operations of the Fund are in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of the Fund’s enabling documents. These documents include an Indenture of Trust and a 
Funding Agreement with CMHC. The documents were designed to protect both the Fund’s Federal 
funding and the parameters put in place for the administration of the funding over the long term. 
A Management Agreement between CMHC and the Fund describes the services CMHC has agreed to 
provide with respect to the management of the Fund. This Agreement expired March 31, 2015. While 
no extension has been entered into, CMHC continues to provide select management services to the 
Fund pursuant to the terms of the Management Agreement, notwithstanding its expiry.

Oversight of the Fund is provided by six Trustees who provide governance and leadership, functioning 
as stewards of the Fund. More than half of the Trustees were appointed by the CMHC Minister 
(including a Chairperson and a Vice-Chairperson), with the remainder having been appointed by the 
Minister of INAC. There should be a total of nine Trustees, but there are currently three vacancies. 

The Trustees are responsible for meeting the Fund’s objectives and ensuring prudent investment 
and safeguarding of assets, financial accountability, and regular reporting of results. In support of 
these responsibilities, the Trustees created an Audit Committee, an Investment Committee, a Human 
Resources Committee, an Operations Committee, and the Governance Committee.

The Trustees meet face-to-face four times a year to review regular business and once per year for 
strategic planning purposes. The Trustees also conduct meetings via conference call, as required. 
Each year, their August face-to-face meeting includes one or several First Nation communities, 
while the others are held at the Fund’s Ottawa office. 

See below for information regarding Trustee and Committee meetings:

* Meetings are held face-to-face or via conference call.

** During 2016 the planned meetings did not all occur. 

Actual expenses incurred during the year for Trustee governance are as follows:

Expense Type

Honoraria    $91,913  

Travel $131,482 

Total $223, 395

Meetings
Number of 
Members

Number of 
Meetings Planned 
During the Year*

Average Number of 
Days per Meeting 

Trustee 6 9 1.5

Audit Committee 3 4 .25

Investment Committee 2 4** .25

Human Resources Committee 2 2 .25

Operations Committee 2 6 .25

Governance Committee 2 7 .25



Trustees, Wagmatcook First Nation leadership and staff
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Each of the Trustees joined the Board in March 2008. Their biographies may be found on 
the Fund’s website: www.fnmhf.ca. 

John Beaucauge, Chairperson (Ontario) Wasauksing First Nation

Ruth Williams, Vice-Chairperson (Kamloops, British Columbia) Shuswap First Nation

Maurice A. Biron (Toronto, Ontario) Garden River First Nation 

Eric J. Menicoche  (Fort Simpson, Northwest Territories) Liidlii Kue First Nation

Jim Prodger (Truro, Nova Scotia) 

Gail Shawbonquit (Ontario) Atikameksheng Anishnawbek

BOARD OF TRUSTEES



Gail Shawbonquit, Trustee, Dan Christmas, Membertou
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

Chairperson, Maurice A. Biron 
Eric J. Menicoche
Jim Prodger

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

Chairperson, John Beaucage
Ruth Williams

HUMAN RESOURCES COMMITTEE

Chairperson, Ruth Williams
Gail Shawbonquit

OPERATIONS COMMITTEE

John Beaucage
Ruth Williams

GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

John Beaucage
Ruth Williams

COMMITTEE MEMBERS 
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2016



Sarah Rice holds the newest member of the Fund family, Jiikwis Dean Manoominii, 
born to Sarah and Waubegeshig Rice on December 1, 2016
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FUND STAFF 
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2016

Deborah Taylor, Executive Director

Earl Commanda, Program Manager

George Jenkins, Manager, Fund Administration

Ruth Deatcher, Senior Business Development Officer

Kristine Neglia, Senior Program Officer

Jason Haskett, Senior Program Officer

Nancy Pine, Senior Program Officer

Lucille Michaud, Senior Program Officer

Gale Foster, Administrator

Almaz Kifleyesus, Analyst

Sarah Rice, Senior Business Analyst (Maternity leave)

Tracy Tarnowski, Advisor Business Processes

Carl Kanjilal, Senior Financial Analyst

Mike Britton, Senior Financial Advisor

Crystal Garrow, Assistant Administrator

Michelle Itwaru, Senior Business Analyst



Owning a Home Makes a Difference  |  First Nations Market Housing Fund80

 HOW THE FUND WORKS

The First Nations Market Housing Fund is a self-sustaining, 
independent, and not-for-profit trust with two clear goals: 
1. To facilitate the availability of private-sector financing for First Nations while helping to 
ensure an accessible supply of market-based housing in First Nations communities; and

2. To increase the capacity of First Nations seeking to expand or develop market-based housing.

The Fund builds on the successes of innovative communities. It is strictly optional; it does not replace 
any existing programs. Instead, the Fund works in tandem with existing programs to expand market 
housing on reserve.

WHAT IS MARKET-BASED HOUSING?

Market-based housing is a broad term that encompasses private home ownership, rentals, and  
rent-to-own housing. Simply put, it means the owners and occupants pay for the cost of their housing 
either through rental or loan payments. Market-based housing gives First Nations a powerful means 
to invest in their communities, and it gives First Nations families the ability to invest in their futures 
by building personal wealth in their homes. It also contributes to the sustainability of existing programs 
by providing another option and allowing funds to be targeted to where they are needed most.     

HOW DOES THE FUND ACCOMPLISH THIS?

The Fund qualifies a First Nation and provides partial financial backing to approved lenders for housing 
loan guarantees made by the First Nation to financial institutions. The First Nation then uses this 
backing to negotiate an arrangement with an approved lender or lenders so their members can apply 
directly to the lender(s) for financing. The financing will help build, buy, or renovate a home on reserve 
or settlement lands where appropriate, to either own or rent. Due to the communal nature of the land, 
the First Nation needs to guarantee the housing loans of its members.

If a borrower defaults on an eligible loan, the lender will seek compensation from the First Nation. 
Should the First Nation not honour its obligation as guarantor, the lender will be able to turn to the 
Fund for compensation up to the amount of Credit Enhancement accumulated by the lender for loans 
made in the community. The Fund itself does not provide loans. 
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The Fund:
SUPPORTS ARRANGEMENTS BETWEEN FIRST NATIONS AND LENDERS

The Fund has created an alternate form of security for housing loans made on reserve or 
settlement lands which will attract lenders and give First Nations leverage to negotiate more favourable 
interest rates, risk-sharing agreements, reduced program access fees, and administrative arrangements. 
In this way, people on reserve will have the same housing choices and opportunities as people in 
non-First Nations communities.  

RESPECTS THE COMMUNAL NATURE OF RESERVE LAND

Off reserve, lenders take land as security in exchange for housing loans. On reserve, land is held by the 
Crown for the benefit of the First Nations’ members and often considered communal. Because lenders 
cannot use communal land as security, this has made it more difficult for First Nations members to obtain 
housing loans in their communities. The backing provided by the First Nations Market Housing Fund, in 
conjunction with First Nation guarantees, attracts lenders by offsetting the security issue while preserving 
the communal nature of reserve land. 

INCREASES THE CAPACITY OF FIRST NATIONS

The Fund has established a Capacity Development Program which provides support for First Nations 
communities that meet or are close to meeting the Fund’s criteria for the Credit Enhancement but have 
areas which could be strengthened or improved. Funding for capacity development supports the provision 
of training, advice and coaching which focuses on improving market-based housing capacity for qualified 
First Nations and members of these communities.  

ACCESS CRITERIA

Access criteria are based on principles, not rules. The criteria are separated into three pillars: 

 • Financial Management;

 • Good Governance; and

 • Evidence of community demand and support for market-based housing. 

First Nations choose how best to satisfy each principle by demonstrating their own strengths 
in each of the pillars.



Earl Commanda, Program Manager, Chief Christian Sinclair, Opaskwayak Cree Nation MB, John Beaucage, Chairperson
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Held-to-Maturity Investments
Held-to-maturity investments are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and a fixed 
maturity date that management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.

Settlement Date Accounting
Settlement date accounting refers to an accounting method whereby an asset, such as an investment, 
is recognized by an entity in its accounting records on the day the entity receives it. This occurs when 
a given transaction has been fulfilled, which is when performance by both parties has been satisfied. 

Effective Interest Rate Method
A method for systematically moving bond discounts or premiums from the statement of financial 
position to interest income over the life of the investment.  

Deferral Method
Under the deferral method of accounting for contributions, restricted contributions related to expenses 
of future periods are deferred and recognized as revenue in the period in which the related expenses 
are incurred. 

Fair Value
Fair value is the amount of consideration that would be agreed upon in an arm’s length transaction 
between knowledgeable, willing parties under normal conditions.
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LIST OF ACRONYMS

The Fund – First Nations Market Housing Fund

NAEDB – National Aboriginal Economic Development Board

FNFMB – First Nations Financial Management Board

AFOA – Aboriginal Financial Officers Association

INAC – Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada

CMHC – Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation

AFN – Assembly of First Nations

TSAG – Technical Services and Advisory Group

NATOA – National Aboriginal Trust Officers Association

CANDO – Council for the Advancement of Native Development Officers

OFNTSC – Ontario First Nations Technical Services Corporation

OALA – Ontario Aboriginal Lands Association 

OFNEDA – Ontario First Nations Economic Developers Association 

COO – Chiefs of Ontario 



CONTACT US

First Nations Market Housing Fund 
1420 Blair Place, Suite 510 
Ottawa, Ontario  
K1J 9L8 
 

Reception/Main Number 
1-866-582-2808 or 613-740-1592 

Fax 
613-740-9932

 General Inquiries
info@fnmhf.ca  
 
Website
www.fnmhf.ca  
 

 
 


